Working Papers Firms and Region No. R5/2012



Natalia Irena Gust-Bardon

Regional Development in the Context of an Innovation Process



Contact: Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI Competence Center "Policy and Regions" Breslauer Strasse 48 76139 Karlsruke, Germany Telephone: +49 / 721 / 6809-138 Telefax: +49 / 721 / 6809-176 e-mail: christine.schaedel@isi.fraunhofer.de URL: www.isi.fraunhofer.de

Karlsruhe 2012 ISSN 1438-9843

Contents

Page

Abs	stract1
1	Introduction1
2	Models of an innovation process 2
3	The case of Sophia Antipolis: The adaptation to the changing nature of globalisation
4	Findings on regional development that originate from theories and the case of Sophia Antipolis
5	Summary 17
6	References 19

Tables and Figures

Table 1:	General circumstances in which regions and organisations innovate according to territorial innovation models and interactive models of an innovation process	.11
Table 2:	Determinants of regional development in the context of an innovation processes	.16
Figure 1:	Regional development as a black box	1
Figure 2:	Models of an innovation process	2
Figure 3:	Linear model of an innovation process according to Vannevar Bush	3
Figure 4:	Linear model of an innovation process	3
Figure 5:	The coupling model of an innovation process	5
Figure 6:	The chain-linked model	7
Figure 7:	Three forms of relations between government, industry and academia	8
Figure 8:	The closed innovation model	9
Figure 9:	The open innovation model	9
Figure 10:	Waves of incremental innovations occurrence	.15
Figure 11:	Regional development mechanism leading to the creation of an endogenous innovation process in a region	.18

Abstract

The purpose of this paper is to identify main components and driving forces behind an innovation process in order to support regions in organising their 'endogenous innovation process'. To that end, we study models of an innovation process and analyse the case of Sophia Antipolis. This theoretical study allows us to identify general inputs leading to creation of an endogenous innovation process in a region.

1 Introduction

Regions face a challenge with regard to the changing nature of globalisation which results in the necessity to respond to new circumstances. Nowadays, when long-term economic growth depends on knowledge accumulation and long-term output growth relies on the ability to introduce new products, processes, services, business models and organisational methods in companies (OECD 2011), the competitiveness of regions is being determined by their ability to organise beneficial environment for science, technology and innovation. In other words, to organise an 'endogenous innovation process'. To do so, the identification of components and driving forces behind an innovation process is crucial.

Figure 1: Regional development as a black box



Source: Own figure

Regarding regional development as a 'black box' and assuming that we want to achieve the 'output' in the form of an endogenous innovation process in a region, our purpose is to identify the 'inputs' (Figure 1). The interior of the 'box' is a mechanism which explains the way regions develop, which means that the 'box' takes a form of regional development concepts which try to explain the nature of the development by binding inputs and outputs. We analyse several models of an innovation process as well as the case of Sophia Antipolis. The paper describes the following models of an innovation process: the science-push model, the need-pull model, the coupling model, the chain-linked model, systemic models, the triple helix model and the open innovation model. This analysis allows us to identify general conditions for regions and organisations to innovate. The next part of the paper is devoted to Sophia Antipolis, a technology park in France, as an example of the case where, in response to changing circum-

stances, a region transforms its structure in order to adjust its local environment to new requirements of companies. The case of Sophia Antipolis is an example of an initiative whose aim was to transform the profile of a region, in this case, from a farming area into one of major high-technology centres in southern Europe.

2 Models of an innovation process

An innovation process means a series of sequential changes, linked causatively, constituting stages of development of innovation. In other words, an innovation process is a sequence of events necessary for introducing an innovation to a market (Niedzielski 2008). An innovation process is described by models which could be divided into linear ones and interactive ones (Figure 2).

Figure 2: Models of an innovation process



Source: Own figure

According to some scholars (Gavin 2001), the beginnings of a linear model called the **science-push model** are directly linked with a report titled *Science: The Endless Frontier* prepared for President Roosevelt by Vannevar Bush (1945) – the Director of the Office of Scientific Research and Development. According to Bush, the progress of science is essential for technological innovations and for economic upswing, while knowledge needed for a rise of new products, new industries and new workplaces has its origin in basic research. Bush stated that science, especially basic research, should be a crucial objective of government policy. This policy ought to stimulate industry to conduct research by (1) clarification of the system of tax deductions with regard to incurred research and development expenditures and by (2) strengthening the patent system to reduce uncertainties. In his report, Bush focused mainly on socio-economic effects of knowledge application, such as: an increase of the number of workplaces, earnings, leisure time and time which can be devoted to learning, as well as a lift of standard of living. This model, where basic research supported by public funds is the starting point for creation of knowledge necessary for an innovation process, is illus-trated on Figure 3.





Source: Own figure, based on Bush (1945)

The assumption with regard to the genesis of the science-push model based on the report *Science: The Endless Frontier* has been challenged by Benoît Godin (2006), who claims that the first developed version of a linear model was proposed in the 1920s by Maurice Holland of the Division of Engineering and Industrial Research of the U. S. National Research Council. Furthermore, Godin argues that the Bush's report is not a proper source to present a linear model because it is only a political document whose purpose is to persuade officials to increase public financial support for basic research. According to Godin, the innovation model is not a spontaneous invention suggested by Bush, but rather a process developed over the following three stages: (1) linking of applied research with outcomes of basic research, (2) adding experimental development to the process and (3) adding production and diffusion. Godin's linear model is presented on Figure 4.

Figure 4: Linear model of an innovation process



Source: Own figure, based on Godin (2006)

The linear approach to an innovation process means in simple terms that "science leads to technology and technology satisfies market needs" (Gibbons et al. 1994: 51). While the science-push model was adequate in the USA since the end of the World War II until the 1960s, later on it became the subject of criticism from many scholars (Edquist/Hommen 1999; Kline/Rosenberg 1986). One of the main objections was the lack of feedbacks from ongoing work, from a development process and even from sales figures and individual users. As Kline and Rosenberg (1986) stress, feedbacks are essential to assess the performance of a product, to plan further steps and to assess a competitive position. Moreover, they state that "the central process of innovation is not science but design" (ibid.: 286). They conclude the analysis of the linear approach by saying that "had the idea been true that science is the initiating step in innovation, we would never have invented the bicycle" (ibid.: 288). They proclaim the necessity of abandonment of linear models and, as a consequence, Kline and Rosenberg propose the chain-linked model instead, discussed further in this section.

The second type of linear model is the **need-pull model**, in which market needs initiate an innovation process. Studies conducted in the 1960s and 1970s showed that between 60% and 70% of innovations occur as a result of market needs (Utterback 1974). This model is also called into question. The skepticism toward it can be summarises in the following questions: (1) how efficiently companies are able to reveal undisclosed needs, assuming the endless set of human needs, (2) do companies have sufficient access to methods which enable them to meet the variety of needs being expected to arise, (3) how far companies might venture from existing routines in order to satisfy unmet demands (Nemet 2009).

Italian scholars (Balconi et al. 2010) defend the science push model, claiming that, while the model has serious limitations, its criticism is to simplistic, mechanistic and is based on unwarranted assumptions. They undermine the foundation about the lack of feedbacks in the model, saying that the model can feature feedbacks and remain linear. They also stress that the science-push model is still usefully adapted in such industries as biopharmacy and semiconductors.

New models viewing an innovation process as a complex set of relations in which innovation may occur at any stage were formed in the 1980s as a result of the criticism of linear models and as an effect of efforts to link market needs and science into one model.

The **coupling model**, developed by Rothwell and Zegveld (Rothwell/Zegveld 1985)(1985), is an example of an interactive model. The model (Figure 5) is regarded

by them as a logically sequential although not necessarily continuous process which can be divided into a series of independent and yet interacting stages. They regard an innovation process as a complex net of communication paths – within and outside an organisation – which links a company with a wider scientific and technological community as well as with a broader market. Rothwell and Zegveld conclude that an innovation process represents accumulated technological skills and market needs within a company framework (Rothwell 1994). It means that matching the company's technological capacity with market needs in the earliest possible stage of their appearance (identification) is a crucial factor for an innovation process.





Source: Rotwell/Zegveld (1985)

The next example of an interactive model is the **chain-linked model** developed by Kline and Rosenberg (1986) who defined within this model five stages and five paths of an innovation process (Figure 6).

The first stage comprises identification of needs based on a potential market. In the second stage, an invention and (or) a production of an analytic design takes place. The analytic design, as a new product or process, aims at meeting identified needs. The third stage is a combination of a detailed design and its testing. The forth stage consists of a modification of a project after which the production of a product takes place. The last stage is to distribute and market an innovation.

The five paths of an innovation process, described by Kline and Rosenberg, are showed on Figure 6 as: C, f and F, K-R, D, I and S.

The first path, called the central chain of innovation (C), goes through the five stages, beginning with a production of an analytic design and ending with the production and marketing of an innovation.

The second path is a series of feedbacks (f) occurring between adjacent stages of an innovation process. Besides feedbacks between adjacent stages there is a particularly important feedback (F) linking the last stage with the first one. This connection means that experiences gained by a company within the last stage of the process (based on information from customers) results in more effective identification of new markets (new customers needs) (UNIDO 2004).

The third path are links between innovation and research development (D). This connection is determined by available sources of knowledge – if a problem arising during the five stages could be solved while relying on existing knowledge (at node K), then research is abandoned (the link 3 to R becomes redundant).

The forth path represents the situation when research outcomes in the form of new knowledge lead to the emergence of a radical innovation (D). According to Kline and Rosenberg, this case occurs rarely, nevertheless, if it happens, then this innovation revolutionises industries. Examples of such innovations are as follows: semiconductors, lasers, atom bombs and genetic engineering.

The fifth path denotes the impact of innovative products on research (I) as well as supporting the research by monitoring external developments (S). Kline and Rosenberg give an example of a microscope without which the work of Louis Pasteur would not have been possible, and in consequence it would have delayed the progress of medicine.

The next category of interactive models comprises **systemic models** developed in works of Freeman (1987), Lundvall (1992) and Nelson (1993). The concept of systemic models assumes social and evolutionary character of innovation. The social aspect refers to a learning process which is the main activity within systemic models stimulating interactions between people. Freeman (1987: 1) understood an innovation system as public and private institutions whose activities and mutual relations lead to creation, absorption, improvement and diffusion of new technologies. Lundvall (1992: 12) defines an innovation system as elements and relations which affect the creation, diffusion and use of new, economically useful knowledge. Nelson (1993: 4) describes an innovation system as a group of institutions where mutual interactions affect the innovation performance of national companies. According to Edquist (1997), whose works also contributed to development of the concept of innovation systems, innovation systems comprise all important economic, social, political and organisational factors which influence the development, diffusion and use of innovations.

Figure 6: The chain-linked model



Source: Kline and Rosenberg (1986)

Another example of an interactive model is the **triple helix model** by Leydesdorff and Etzkowitz (1996). The assumption in this model is that interactions between science, industry and government are crucial factors determining conditions for an innovation process. This conception is distinct from the idea of systemic models, which consider the companies to be main actors in an innovation process (Etzkowitz/Leydesdorff 2000).

The triple helix model stresses reciprocal interceptions of functions in these three spheres, for example, entrepreneurship was originally assigned to industry, whereas nowadays it starts to characterise both science (through establishing companies such as spin-offs or spin-outs by academic staff) and government, which has the role of an animator of a local and regional socio-economic environment. Assuming new roles is done without a loss to their main functions (Etzkowitz 2003).

The role of these three helixes in an innovation process differs depending on changing relationships among science, industry and government. Etzkowitz and Leydesdorff (2000) identify three variants of mutual relations (Figure 7). The first variant refers to the situation when government, as the dominant actor, controls science and industry, directing relations between them, and is the owner of resources needed for new activities. In this case, the role of universities is limited mainly to educating human capital. In the second variant, which is based on *laissez-faire* conditions, science, industry and

government work separately. The role of government is to constitute law and intervene only when market does not perform as expected. Companies in these circumstances have been set up and run rather by individuals than by groups of people. Apart from educating, universities also conduct research. Their function in relation to industry is to supply knowledge mainly in forms of publications; greater engagement of science into economic life is not expected.

Figure 7: Three forms of relations between government, industry and academia



Source: Etzkowitz (2003)

The third variant is a form which matches the assumptions of the triple helix model. The relations among science, industry and government create an environment for the occurrence of hybrid organisations, such as: incubators, scientific parks or venture capital companies.

The last example of interactive models from the proposed division (Figure 2) is the **open innovation model** developed by Chesbrough (2003a; 2003b). The model contrasts its assumptions with the closed model of innovation (Figure 8), in which companies believe that "if you want something done right, you've got to do it yourself" (Chesbrough 2003b: 36). In the closed model, which worked efficiently during the 20th century, in order to create the most efficient ideas which could be quickly introduced on the market, entrepreneurs had to invest in own research labs and hire the most skilled employees (Chesbrough 2003a). New concepts were barred from competitors. Since the end of the 20th century, there have been changes due to the influence of the increased mobility among employees, which impedes keeping new ideas secret, and under the influence of growing accessibility of venture capital which facilitates funding currently set up companies and their efforts towards commercialisation of new ideas.

Figure 8: The closed innovation model



Source: Chesbrough (2003b)

In the open innovation model (Figure 9), companies commercialise ideas developed both within an organisation and outside it, without worrying that releasing their concepts will be disadvantageous. In that model, once companies are not able to develop all of their ideas, they are eager to share them with others, which implies a greater number of innovations in economy than if all ideas (even those which could not be embraced by a company) were barred from competitors. The establishment of spin-off companies and patenting activities – both patenting own ideas and taking advantage of already patented ideas from other actors – are a manifest of the open innovation model adhered to by an organisation. According to Chesbrough (2003b), there are specific industries which perform optimally within a closed model (for example, the nuclear industry) and probably they will never develop toward an open model. Nevertheless, many companies, mainly from biotechnology, pharmacy, semiconductors, telecommunication and IT, evolve toward foundations of the open innovation model.

Figure 9: The open innovation model



Source: Chesbrough (2003b)

It is widely believed that to enhance a competitive position in a global economy, regions have to adapt their economic and institutional structures as well as their policy to changing circumstances (Benz/Fürst 2002). As Lundvall (1995) claims, nowadays, capitalism has reached the stage when knowledge is a strategic resource and learning is the most important process. This means the necessity to develop a regional environment that would be beneficial for knowledge production, diffusion and absorption.

Based on analysed models of an innovation process, we can conclude that the main forces enabling regions to enhance their innovative performance are as follows:

- innovative interactions as a result of networking both among regional actors and between regional and external actors;
- science, public and private actors cooperating with each other and being highly engaged in socio-economic life in a region;
- monitoring of the external environment to draw from the experience, knowledge and skills of others;
- sharing with own knowledge, ideas and experiences with other companies, regions etc.

Similar conclusions come from the analysis of territorial innovation models (TIM) which also stress the importance of mutual interactions between actors (Table 1). Concepts of the TIM family consider innovation as an interactive process performing through exchange of resources between actors. This exchange takes advantage of various forms of connections. According to Benneworth and Rutten (2011), actors can perform efficiently within several networks and disseminate resources between them. Furthermore, the integral components of relationships are social networks. In that sense, social networks can be perceived as a set of socially embedded economic relations which means that they depend upon norms, institutions and assumptions shared among a group of actors as opposed to simply being a result of economic decisions by: (1) working as channels for communication, social construction and negotiation of innovations, (2) intensifying the monitoring of innovations and, accordingly, (3) diminishing the risk by eliminating novelty or uncertainty for potential actors that absorb innovations (Jippes et al. 2010).

Table 1:General circumstances in which regions and organisations innovate according to territorial innovation models and
interactive models of an innovation process

Territorial innovation models				
Innovative milieu	Industrial districts	Clusters	Regional innovation sys- tems	Learning regions
Formation of a region towards an incubator of innovation where compa- nies from different branches are able to co- operate and exchange information	Concentration of compa- nies determining sectoral specialisation in a region, competing with each other on the basis of innova- tiveness and cooperating in associations of produc- ers	The presence of regional networks of interdepend- ent companies, actors developing knowledge, customers, suppliers and other institutions contribut- ing to networks' perform- ance	Interactions between sources of knowledge development (e.g. univer- sities, research institu- tions) and companies in a region	The ability of a region to respond to new circum- stances by: adopting solu- tions being already ap- plied successfully in other regions, adjusting these solutions to own specific regional structures or de- veloping entirely new solu- tions
Interactive models of an innovation process				
Coupling model	Chain-linked model	Systemic models	Triple helix model	Open innovation model
Communication paths combining an organisation with a wider scientific and technological community	Feedbacks occurring be- tween organisation's de- partments as well as be- tween the organisation and the environment (e.g. customers)	Interactions between pub- lic and private actors lead- ing to creation, diffusion and absorption of knowl- edge as well as enhancing the learning process	Interactions between sci- ence, industry and gov- ernment; additionally, reciprocal interceptions of functions in these three spheres	Sharing knowledge and ideas with other actors, which leads to commer- cialisation of ideas that originated both inside and outside an organisation

Source: Own compilation

3 The case of Sophia Antipolis: The adaptation to the changing nature of globalisation

Companies engage in cooperation with other actors not only due to the possibility of decreasing costs and risks of research and development activities, but also in order to obtain access to new markets and technologies as well as to benefit from other people's skills. Networks performance is based on relations which were developed based on reciprocal trust and social coherence.

The analysis of the Sophia Antipolis case will allow better comprehension of the role of networks and identification of factors which reinforce regional development with regard to an innovation process.

The technology park of Sophia Antipolis is located in the South of France in Provence-Alpes-Côte d'Azur, between Nice and Cannes. In 2011, there were 1400 companies located in Sophia Antipolis, especially from the IT sector, and 30000 workplaces (Perez 2011). The idea to create this park commenced in the 1960s as a private initiative of Pierre Laffitte, a director of École nationale supérieure des mines de Paris in the years 1963–1984 and a senator from 1985 until 2008 (Barbera/Fassero 2011). Laffitte's intention was to transform the touristic-agricultural region into a "City of Science, Culture and Wisdom" (ter Wal 2010).

The park was created *ex-nihilo* – in a region without industry traditions, academic centres and human capital resources. The key factors which have decided about the locating companies in Sophia Antipolis were: the attractive climate of the French Riviera, a cosmopolitan tradition, excellent transport and touristic infrastructure, especially the convenient access to an international airport (Lazaric et al. 2008). The objective of the project was to attract companies from the IT sector in order to minimise negative external effects, such as pollution, which could threaten one of the main advantages of the region – the climate. In the initial stage of the project, a significant impulse came from the investments of France Télécom, which enhanced the competitiveness of the region by creating telecommunication infrastructure and fibre-optic networks (crucial facilities for the IT sector). In the 1970s, the project faced financial problems and was not able to be conducted as a private initiative any more. This led to the shift of the project into the public sector and since that time the local and regional government has played the main role. Public actions were then focused on the promotion of the region by international marketing. This resulted in an influx of foreign investments (Longhi 1999).

As a consequence of changing forms of globalisation, the park's competitiveness was weakened in the 1990s. Whereas in the 1980s the decisions on locating companies

were based on low costs and access to infrastructural facilities, in the 1990s those decisions started to depend on the presence of specific features of a region which affect the innovation performance of companies (Lazaric et al. 2008). The local environment, from which a company draws knowledge through interactions with other actors, has become the key factor boosting innovation performance. These changing circumstances reduced the influx of new companies into Sophia Antipolis and also caused decisions of moving some firms from the park into another place (ter Wal 2010). Those companies which launched their R&D activities in Sophia Antipolis in the 1980s conducted their research within their own organisational structure without any external interactions on the local level. This led to the concentration of companies performing in isolation. The development of the park until the 1990s was affected by exogenous factors, taking mainly the form of foreign investments.

The abandonment of the technology park by international companies became a positive impulse for employees, who did not want to leave Sophia Antipolis and move along with a firm, to set up their own business. The creation of small and medium size companies commenced a formation of regional development based on endogenous factors constituted by networks among actors (Barbera/Fassero 2011). In order to enhance entrepreneurial performance of companies in the park and to promote networks cooperation, many of associations and clubs appeared. An example of one of such associations is *Sophia Start-up*, supporting firms in the beginning of their activity through formation of links between a company and a venture capital investor. An entrepreneur also gains aid in the form of access to education to enhance the skills necessary to run a business (Parker 2010).

The regional development based on small and medium size companies was soon supported by founding of scientific centres, both public and private, in the region. The Université de Nice located its research institutes and doctoral studies in Sophia Antipolis in 1986. The active collaboration and the engagement of the university in enhancing the scientific potential of the region and in forming human capital resulted in the emergence of such tight ties between the university and the park that the university decided to change its name to *Université de Nice Sophia Antipolis* in 1989 (Chambre régionale des comptes de Provence-Alpes-Côte D'Azur 2010). Subsequently, in 1991, Eurecom, a private graduate school, was established in Sophia Antipolis to educate in engineering fields, such as: multimedia information technologies, mobile communication as well as communications and computer security. These engineering studies were set up to meet the needs of the technological park. The next significant factor contributing to the enhancement of regional endogenous potential was the presence of such scientific institutes as: INRIA (Fr. Institut National de Recherche en Informatique et en Automatique), INRA (Fr. Institut National de la Recherche Agronomique), CNRS (Fr. Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique) and INSERM (Fr. Institut National de la Santé ed de la Recherche Médicale), which have already worked in Sophia Antipolis since the 1970s and 1980s, however, their impact on the park's development was irrelevant in those years due to international companies being independent from the local environment, working without any cooperation with colocated actors. The situation changed when the structure of Sophia Antipolis was transformed through human capital accumulation (as a result of the appearance of academic institutions and their educational activities) and the emergence of small and medium size enterprises. In those new circumstances, scientific institutes became the source of technology transfer through the foundation of start-up and spin-off companies. An example of that activity is INRIA, which has an active policy of technology transfer; since 1984 the institute has founded 16 companies (INRIA Sophia-Antipolis-Méditerranée 2009).

Changes which took place in Sophia Antipolis, caused the necessity to adapt its structure to changing circumstances, transforming the local economic system from an exogenous into an endogenous one. The development of the technology park is not determined by international companies any more, its competitiveness depends on the innovative environment based on small and medium size firms and scientific institutions. However, it does not mean that the park is closed for foreign investments, but greater attention is paid to strengthening the links between foreign and local companies.

4 Findings on regional development that originate from theories and the case of Sophia Antipolis

In conditions where innovations affect an economic upswing, regional development is determined by: (1) actors which are responsible for creation, diffusion and absorption of innovations, (2) actors which create institutional environment for innovations, (3) the inference of cooperating networks, (4) the resources of human capital in a region and (5) the quality of regional infrastructure needed by actors of innovation processes. Table 2, based on studies of models of an innovation process and the case of Sophia antipolis, gives more details with regard to determinants of regional development in the context of an innovation process.





Source: The Economist (1999)

Taking into account that cycles of appearance of incremental innovations – which revolutionise technologies and change conditions essential for the rise of innovations – are becoming shorter (Figure 10), it is important to stress the validity of diversification of innovation activities in a region. In that situation, an eventual collapse of companies from a given innovative activity, as a result of developing of new technologies, would not be as threatening as in the case when a region is dominated by one type of innovation activities. Linking foreign and national companies with a local environment, where they are located, is also an essential factor for regional development. This increases the chance for the long-term growth in a region.

Table 2:Determinants of regional development in the context of an innovation
processes

Factors	Effects
The presence of universities which, beyond education and research, actively contribute to creation of links with other actors of local economic environment and the existence of universities whose academic staff is engaged in economic activities, like setting up spin-off or spin-out companies	Dissemination of knowledge and creation of cooperating networks
Higher education adapted to the needs of knowledge- based economy	Educated alumni starting their own companies or contributing to the work of existing innovative companies
The existence of cooperating links between companies within a region	Exchange of knowledge and ideas as well as building trust between firms
Cooperation with actors of an innovation process outside a region	Gaining new knowledge not available in a region
The presence of a heterogeneous structure of actors cre- ating and disseminating knowledge, such as: business incubators, scientific parks and technology transfer cen- tres	Increasing the diverse knowl- edge available for firms, which gives an impulse for new ideas
The presence of social capital in a region	Creation of mutual trusts and norms, which enhance the coor- dination of activities within net- works
The presence of human capital, whose knowledge, skills and experiences coincide with the needs of companies and other actors engaged in an innovation process	Enhancement of the competi- tiveness of a region
Engagement of regional or local authorities in the process of creating a cooperation network among science and industries	A common vision of regional development; effective activities of local authorities towards for- mation of beneficial environment for innovation processes en- hance the competitiveness of a region
Accessibility to transportation and communication infra- structure which meets the needs of innovative companies	Creation of beneficial conditions for high-tech manufacturing

Source: Own compilation

5 Summary

The analysis of models of an innovation process emphasises networks as the factor determining the emergence of innovations. The case of Sophia Antipolis proved this assumption, stressing the endogenous networking structure as the prerequisite for long-term development in a region. This theoretical study leads to the conclusion that well-performing networks are directly linked with: (1) multitude of actors which diversify sources of knowledge and information in a region, (2) including external actors into regional networks, which provide information unavailable within a region as well as new technology and new markets, (3) interactions in forms of cooperation and competition based on innovation, (4) the ability of regional actors to respond to new circumstances by adopting solutions that are being already applied by other actors, adjusting these solutions to own specific structures or creating entirely new solutions.

The changing nature of globalisation forces regions to perform as an innovative organisation which in this case means to base its structure on the following pillars:

- Highly qualified human capital the main challenge here is to bind well-educated people with a region to prevent them, in the case of outflow of companies from a region, from moving along with a firm. To do so, a region has to offer attractive living conditions.
- "Infostructure instead of infrastructure" (Hassink 2005: 525) which means infrastructure facilitating the flow of knowledge and learning process, like technology parks, business incubators, R&D institutes, business environment institutions etc.
- 3. The ability to learn from success and failure taking advantage of changes in a region, such as the decline of an industry, to subsequently transform them into 'creative destruction' which allows the introduction of a new economic paradigm into a region.
- 4. Partnership and dialogue between regional actors resulting in a common vision of the development path of a region and creation of social capital.
- 5. Openness to external environment and endeavour to bind foreign actors to a regional structure.

To summarise, the analysis of models of an innovation process and the case of Sophia Antipolis allows the identification of general inputs, leading to the creation of an 'endogenous innovation process' in a region, presented in Figure 11.

Figure 11: Regional development mechanism leading to the creation of an endogenous innovation process in a region



Source: Own figure

6 References

- Balconi, M./Brusoni, S./Orsenigo, L. (2010): In defence of the linear model: An essay, *Research Policy*, 39, 1-13.
- Barbera, F./Fassero, S. (2011): The place-based nature of technological inno-vation: the case of Sophia Antipolis, *The Journal of Technology Transfer*, online: doi: 10.1007/s10961-011-9242-7.
- Benneworth, P./Rutten, R. (2011): Territorial Innovation Models Beyond the Learning Regions: Towards Understanding the Social Dynamics of Innovation Networks, Paper presented to 16th International Conference of the Regional Studies Association. Newcastle upon Tyne.
- Benz, A./Fürst, D. (2002): Policy learning in regional networks, *European Urban and Regional Studies*, 9, 21-35.
- Bush, V. (1945): Science the endless frontier: a report to the President. Washington DC: United States Government Printing Office, July 1945. Online: http://www.nsf.gov/od/lpa/nsf50/vbusg1945.htm (accessed: 20.05.2012).
- Chambre régionale des comptes de Provence-Alpes-Côte D'Azur (2010): Rapport d'observations définitives sur la gestion de l'Université de Nice Sophia-Antipolis. Chambre régionale des comptes de Provence-Alpes-Côte d'Azur, 3ème Section, Département des Alpes-Maritimes. Online: http://www.ccomptes.fr/fr/CRC22/ documents/ROD/PAR201026.pdf (accessed: 20.05.2012).
- Chesbrough, H.W. (2003a): Open Innovation The New Imperative for Creating and Profiting from Technology. Boston: Harvard Business School Press.
- Chesbrough, H.W. (2003b): The Era of Open Innovation, *MIT Sloan Management Review*, 44, 35-41.
- Edquist, C. (1997): Systems of innovation approaches their emergence and characteristics. In: Edquist, C. (ed.): Systems of Innovation. Technologies, Institutions and Organizations. London/Washington: Pinter Publishers.
- Edquist, C./Hommen, L. (1999): Systems of innovation: theory and policy for demand side, *Technology in Society*, 21, 63-79.
- Etzkowitz, H. (2003): Innovation in innovation: the Triple Helix of university-industrygovernment relations, *Social Science Information*, 42, 293-337.
- Etzkowitz, H./Leydesdorff, L. (2000): The dynamics of innovation: from National Systems and "Mode 2" to a Triple Helix of university-industry-government relations, *Research Policy*, 29, 109-123.
- Freeman, C. (1987): *Technology Policy and Economic Performance: Lessons from Japan.* London: Pinter Publishers.

- Gavin, B. (2001): *The European Union and Globalisation: Towards Global De-mocratic Governance*. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar Publishing Limited. New Horizons in International Business.
- Gibbons, M./Limoges, C./Nowotny, H./Schwartzman, S./Scott, P./Trow, M. (1994): *The New Production of Knowledge. The Dynamics of Science and Research in Contemporary Societies.* London: Sage.
- Godin, B. (2006): The Linear Model of Innovation: The Historical Construction of an Analytical Framework, *Science, Technology & Human Values,* 31, 639-667.
- Gordon, I.R./McCann, P. (2000): Industrial Clusters: Complexes, Agglomeration and/or Social Networks?, *Urban Studies*, 37, 513-532.
- Hassink, R. (2005): How to Unlock Regional Economies from Path Dependency? From Learning Region and Learning Cluster, *European Planning Studies*, 13, 521-535.
- INRIA Sophia-Antipolis-Méditerranée (2009): 2012 Ambitions. Online: https://www.inria.fr/en/content/download/4889/95727/version/4/file/2012+Ambitio ns.pdf (accessed: 20.05.2012).
- Jippes, E./Achterkamp, M.C./Brand, P.L.P./Kiewiet, D.J./Pols, J./Van Engelen, J.M.L. (2010): Disseminating educational innovations in health care practice: Training versus social networks, *Social Science & Medicine*, 70, 1509-1517.
- Kline, S.J./Rosenberg, N. (1986): An Overview of Innovation. In: Landau, R./Rosenberg, N. (eds.): The Positive Sum Strategy. Harnessing Technology for Economic Growth. Washington: National Academy Press, 275-305.
- Lazaric, N./Longhi, C./Thomas, C. (2008): Gatekeepers of knowledge versus Platforms of Knowledge: From Potential to Realized Absorptive Capacity, *Regional Studies*, 42, 837-852.
- Leydesdorff, L./Etzkowitz, H. (1996): Emergence of a Triple Helix of University-Industry-Government - Relations, *Science and Public Policy*, 23, 279-286.
- Longhi, C. (1999): Networks, Collective Learning and Technology Development in Innovative High Technology Regions: The Case of Sophia-Antipolis, *Regional Studies*, 33, 333-342.
- Lundvall, B.-Å. (1995): The Learning Economy Challenges to Economic Theory and Policy. Copenhagen: Revised version of a paper presented to the EAEPE Conference (October 1994).
- Lundvall, B.-Å. (ed.) (1992): National Systems of Innovation. Towards a Theory of Innovation and Interactive Learning. London: Pinter Publishers.
- Nelson, R.R. (1993): National Innovation Systems: A comparative Study. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

- Nemet, G.F. (2009): Demand-pull, technology-push, and government-led incentives for non- incremental technical change, *Research Policy*, 38, 700-709.
- Niedzielski, P. (2008): Zarzadzanie innowacjami w przedsiebiorstwach us-lugowych. In: Filipiak, B./Panasiuk, A. (eds.): *Przedsiebiorstwo uslugowe: Zarzadzanie*. Warszawa: PWN, 224-249.
- OECD (ed.) (2011): Regions and Innovation Policy, OECD Reviews of Regional Innovation, OECD Publishing. http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/9789264097803-en.
- Parker, R. (2010): Evolution and change in industrial clusters: An analysis of Hsinchy and Sophia Antipolis, *European Urban and Regional Studies*, 17, 245-260.
- Perez, J. (2011): Companies Listing. Team Côte d'Azur. Online: http://www.investin cotedazur.com/tca_documents/entreprises_sophia_antipolis.xls (accessed: 20.05.2012).
- Rothwell, R. (1994): Towards the Fifth-generation Innovation Process, *International Marketing Review*, 11, 7-31.
- Rothwell, R./Zegveld, W. (1985): *Reindustralization and technology*. London: Longman Group Limited.
- ter Wal, A.L.J. (2010): Cluster Emergence and Network Evolution: A Longitudinal Analysis of the Inventor Network in Sophia Antipolis, *Regional Studies,* doi: 10.1080/00343401003612458.
- The Economist (1999): Catch the wave: The long cycles of industrial innovation are becoming shorter, *The Economist*, 8107, 7-8.
- UNIDO (2004): Negocjacje w transferze technologii: Podrêcznik szkoleniowy. Warszawa.
- Utterback, J.M. (1974): Innovation in Industry and the Diffusion of Technology, *Science*, 183, 620-626.

The series "Working Papers Firms and Region" presents research work of the Competence Center "Policy and Regions" of Fraunhofer Institute for Systems and Innovation Research ISI, Karlsruhe, Germany.

No.	Authors	Title
R5/2012	Natalia Irena Gust- Bardon	Regional Development in the Context of an Inno- vation Process
R4/2012	Natalia Irena Gust- Bardon	The Role of Geographical Proximity in Innovation: Do Regional and Local Levels Really Matter?
R3/2012	Thomas Stahlecker Henning Kroll	The cluster concept as a multi-dimensional the- matic field: Methodological and substantive per- spectives
R2/2012	Henning Kroll Esther Schricke Thomas Stahlecker	Developing new roles for higher education institu- tions in structurally-fragmented regional innovation systems
R1/2012	Knut Koschatzky	Cluster quo vadis? The future of the cluster con- cept
R3/2011	Knut Koschatzky Miriam Hufnagl Henning Kroll Stephanie Daimer Nicole Schulze	Relevanz regionaler Aktivitäten für Hochschulen und das Wissenschaftssystem
R2/2011	Joachim Hemer	A Snapshot on Crowdfunding
R1/2011	Emmanuel Muller Jean-Alain Héraud Nina Menz Mickael Benaim Andrea Zenker	La mesure de l'impact des clusters – quelques éléments de réflexion et de bibliographie
R2/2010	Knut Koschatzky Thomas Stahlecker	The changing role of universities in the German research system: engagement in regional net- works, clusters and beyond

No.	Authors	Title
R1/2010	Thomas Stahlecker Knut Koschatzky	Cohesion policy in the light of place-based innova- tion support: New approaches in multi-actors, de- centralised regional settings with bottom-up strategies?
R8/2009	Martin Fischer Björn Wolf	Entstehungsbedingungen und Gestaltungsformen von Public-Private-Partnerships als Ausgestal- tungsform strategischer Forschungskooperationen zwischen Wissenschaftseinrichtungen und Unternehmen in Deutschland
R7/2009	Emmanuel Muller Andrea Zenker Jean-Alain Héraud	Entering the KIBS' black box: There must be an angel! (or is there something like a knowledge angel?)
R6/2009	Knut Koschatzky	The uncertainty in regional innovation policy: some rationales and tools for learning in policy making
R5/2009	Bärbel Hüsing Thomas Stahlecker	Impact of regionalised RTDI policy measures in Germany: The "Network RNA Technologies Berlin (RiNA)" as an example
R4/2009	Knut Koschatzky Elisabeth Baier Henning Kroll Thomas Stahlecker	The spatial multidimensionality of sectoral innova- tion – the case of information and communication technologies
R3/2009	Knut Koschatzky Thomas Stahlecker	Cohesion policy at the interface between regional development and the promotion of innovation
R2/2009	Henning Kroll	Spillovers and Proximity in Perspective A Network Approach to Improving the Operation- alisation of Proximity
R1/2009	Henning Kroll	The Regional Development of Science and Inno- vation in China – A Brief Review of Current Evi- dence on Matches and Mismatches –

No.	Authors	Title
R3/2008	Arlette Jappe-Heinze Elisabeth Baier Henning Kroll	Clusterpolitik: Kriterien für die Evaluation von re- gionalen Clusterinitiativen
R2/2008	Arlette Jappe-Heinze Knut Koschatzky	The spatial embeddedness of multinational enter- prises' research activity A bibliometric analysis
R1/2008	David Doloreux Andrea Zenker Emmanuel Muller	Services à forte intensité de connaissances, con- texte régional et comportements d'innovation: une comparaison internationale
U1/2007	Emmanuel Muller David Doloreux	The key dimensions of knowledge-intensive busi- ness services (KIBS) analysis: a decade of evolu- tion
R1/2007	Knut Koschatzky Vivien Lo	Methodological framework for cluster analyses
U2/2006	Björn Wolf	Das Finanzierungsumfeld junger Unternehmen in Deutschland
U1/2006	Björn Wolf	Empirische Untersuchung zu den Einflussfaktoren der Finanzierungsprobleme junger Unternehmen in Deutschland und deren Auswirkungen auf die Wirtschaftpolitik
R1/2006	Emmanuel Muller Arlette Jappe Jean-Alain Héraud Andrea Zenker	A regional typology of innovation capacities in New Member States & Candidate Countries
U1/2005	Björn Wolf Birgit Ossenkopf	Kapitalschonende Entwicklungswege – Ansätze zur Lösung der Finanzierungsprobleme junger innovativer Unternehmen

No.	Authors	Title
R2/2004	Thomas Stahlecker Knut Koschatzky	On the significance of geographical proximity for the structure and development of newly founded knowledge-intensive business service firms
R1/2004	Thomas Stahlecker Andreas Koch	On the Significance of Economic Structure and Regional Innovation Systems for the Foundation of Knowledge-Intensive Business Services A Comparative Study in Bremen, Munich, and Stuttgart, Germany
R1/2003	Bodo Kubartz	Wirtschaftliche, soziale und geographische Aspekte in Innovationsnetzwerken – Eine Unter- suchung des Nähekonzeptes am Beispiel von Forschungs- und Entwicklungsdienstleistern
R2/2002	Knut Koschatzky	Innovationsorientierte Regionalentwicklungss- trategien: Konzepte zur regionalen Technik- und Innovationsförderung
R1/2002	Ralph W. Bruns Jens Görisch	Unternehmensgründungen aus Hochschulen im regionalen Kontext – Gründungsneigung und Mo- bilitätsbereitschaft von Studierenden
U1/2001	Rana Adib Frank Gagelmann Knut Koschatzky Klaus Preiser Günter Hans Walter	An Integrated Microfinancing Concept for Rural Electrification by Photovoltaics in Developing Countries
R3/2001	Knut Koschatzky	The role of higher education institutions for entre- preneurship stimulation in regional innovation sys- tems – Evidence from the network-oriented "EXIST: Promotion of university-based start-ups" programme in Germany
R2/2001	Emmanuel Muller Andrea Zenker	Business services as actors of knowledge trans- formation and diffusion: some empirical findings on the role of KIBS in regional and national inno- vation systems

\sim	
	n
~	U.
	_

No.	Authors	Title
R1/2001	Knut Koschatzky Casper Merkle Martin Berger Volker Meyer	Innovation und Kooperation bei unternehmensna- hen Dienstleistern in Baden, Gironde und Südhol- land – Ein Vergleich zwischen jungen und alten Betrieben
R2/2000	Ulrike Broß Günter H. Walter	Socio-economic Analysis of North Rhine- Westphalia Joint Research Project INCO-COPERNICUS
R1/2000	Knut Koschatzky	The regionalisation of innovation policy in Ger- many – Theoretical foundations and recent ex- perience
R4/1999	Knut Koschatzky Ulrike Broß	Struktur und Dynamik von regionalen Innovations- netzwerken unter Transformationsbedingungen – das Beispiel Slowenien
R3/1999	Emmanuel Muller	There is no territorial fatality! (or how innovation interactions between KIBS and SMEs may modify the development patterns of peripheral regions)
R2/1999	Knut Koschatzky Andrea Zenker	The Regional Embeddedness of Small Manufac- turing and Service Firms: Regional Networking as Knowledge Source for Innovation?
R1/1999	Ulrike Broß Knut Koschatzky Peter Stanovnik	Development and Innovation Potential in the Slo- vene Manufacturing Industry First analysis of an industrial innovation survey
Address Fraunhof and Inno Library Breslaue 76139 Ka Germany Phone	to order (print version): er Institute for Systems vation Research ISI r Strasse 48 arlsruhe +49 / 721 / 6809-217 / -2	219
Fax: E-Mail: I	+49 / 721 / 689152 bibl@isi.fraunhofer.de	